

Educational Note

Valuation of Group Life and Health Policy Liabilitie

Document 20067

This document was replaced by document 210034

Modocument was archived April 11, 2023



EDUCATIONAL NOTE

Educational notes do not constitute standards of practice. They are intended to assist actuaries in applying standards of practice in specific matters. Responsibility for the manner of application of standards in specific circumstances remains that of the practitioner.



COMMIT EE ON LIFE INSURANCE FINANCIAL REPORTING

NOVEMBER 2000

© 2000 Canadian Institute of Actuaries

Document 20067

Ce document est disponible en français



MEMORANDUM

TO: All Members and Students of the CIA Interested in Life and Property and Casualty Issues

FROM: Simon Curtis, Chairperson of Committee on Life Insurance Financial Reporting

DATE: November 27, 2000

SUBJECT: Educational Note on the Valuation of Group Life and Teach Policy Liabilities

Attached is an educational note on the "Valuation of Group Life and He Ith Policy Liabilities" prepared by the Committee on Life Insurance Financial Reporting (CLIFR).

This educational note is a companion piece to the May 31, 2000 Loosurg Draft of Life Standards of Practice (SOP), and provides illustrative information on the application of the SOP for group life and health policies.

Once effected, the Life SOP will supercede all extier his sundards of practice. This educational note contains the educational content of several draft valuation technique papers in the Group area that were previously under development by CLIFR. In drafting this educational note, CLIFR has obtained extensive input from experts practicing in the group life and lealth area.

Educational notes do not constitute strutards of practice. They are intended to assist actuaries in applying standards of practice in specific matters. Responsibility for the manner of application of standards in specific circumstances remains that of the practioner.

Material covered in this eductional lote includes the following:

- An overview of the common cenefits provided to members of group life and health plans, (e.g., long-term disability, short-tern disability, medical, dental, term life, creditor, and association) and the various financial arrangements between the group insurance (e.g., fully pooled, prospectively rated, refund accounting, and ASO.
- Illustrations of the application of the Life SOP's Canadian Asset Liability Method (CALM) in determining group policy liabilities. The note studies the "term of the liability" concept for group insurance, describing the projection of incurred claims, premiums, and general administrative expenses. Benefit and expense cash flows for claims are projected to the end of the benefit period. Supplementary information is also provided in several areas that involve special considerations (e.g., deficit recovery, deferred acquisition costs, tax considerations, and data issues).
- Experience rating refunds (ERR) and factors that impact the term of the ERR liability. This includes the treatment of the difference between the Canadian GAAP liability and policyholder liability, a discussion on interest rate risk, and a review of other refund accounting issues.
- Other areas covered include unearned premium valuations, and future claim liability considerations (implicit versus explicit methods, interest rate risk, incidence and termination assumptions, and expenses).

Comments and suggestions should be forwarded to the attention of Simon Curtis, Chair of CLIFR (Simon_Curtis@manulife.com) or Denise Lang, Chair of CLIFR's Group sub-committee (Denise.Lang@clarica.com) at either their *Yearbook* or e-mail address.

SC

Secretariat: 360 Albert #820, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1R 7X7 Tel.: (613) 236-8196 FAX: (613) 233-4552

VALUATION OF GROUP LIFE AND HEALTH POLICY LIABILITIES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
1. INTRODUCTION	5
2. SCOPE	5
3. GROUP LIFE AND HEALTH BUSINESS CHARACTERISTICS	5
4. BENEFIT DESCRIPTIONS	
Long-Term Disability	
Medical	
Dental	
Term Life	7
	/
Group Conversion Benefits	/
Waiver of Premium or Extended Death	/
Accidental Death and Dismemberment	/
Optional Life	8
Paid-up Life	8
Survivor Income Benefits	8
	8
	8
	8
	9
Flex Benefits	9
5. FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENT	9
Fully Pooled	9
Prospectively Rated	9
Refund Accounting	
Retrospective Premium A rangement	
Administrative Service Only (ASO)	
Split Funded Arra Lements	
Hold Harmless Agreements	
No Risk Agreements	
-	
6. CANADIAN ASSET LIABILITY METHOD/MATERIALITY	12
7. ASSET AND LIABILITY CASH FLOWS	14
7.1 Liability for Reported Claims	14
7.1.1 Long-Term Disability (LTD)	
Termination Rates	
Benefit Offsets	
COLA Provisions	
Pending/Resisted/Suspended Claims and	
Claims Under Appeal	16
Recurrence of Disability	
Claims Terminated But Not Reported	
Rehabilitation/Partial Disability	
Unusual Financial Arrangements	
7.1.2 Short-Term Disability (STD)	
<i>→ √</i> · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

		7.1.3	Waiver of Premium or Extended Death Benefit	18	
			Survivor Income Benefits (SIB)		
			Other Benefits		
	7.2 Liability for Claims Due and Unpaid				
7.3 Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) Liabilities					
			onsiderations in Developing the IBNR Claims		
			pproaches to Establish the IBNR Liability		
,	7.4	Liabili	ty for Future Claims		
		7.4.1		21	
		7.4.2	Liability Cash Flow Considerations for Rate Guarantees		
			Use of Approximations		
			Paid-up Life		
			Creditor Insurance		
,			ty for Future Experience Rating Refunds (ERRs)		
			Policyholder versus Statement Liabilities		
		7.5.2	Claims Fluctuation Reserves (CFRs)	26	
		7.5.3	Considerations in Developing the ERR Liability	26	
			Accrued Experience Surplus	26	
			Adjustments to Accrued Experience Surrais	 27	
,	-	7.5.4	Interest Crediting for Refund Accounting Couper	28	
	7.6	Liabili	ty for Amounts on Deposit	29	
	/./	Expen	se Considerations	29	
				30	
9. AD	MIN	ISTRA	ATIVE SERVICES ONLY (A O)	31	
11. DEI	FERI	RED A	ACQUISITION COSTS (DAY)	31	
			DERATIONS		
13. REI	NSU	JRAN	CE CEDYO		
			ONAL ISSUES		
15. AC	QUIS	SITIO	N OI A PASK OF BUSINESS	34	
			LOSSARY OF TERMS		
APPEN	APPENDIX 2 – EXAMPLES3				
APPEN	DIX	3 - D	ATA ISSUES	46	
			IBLIOGRAPHY		

1. INTRODUCTION

This is an educational note on the valuation of group life and health policy liabilities in life insurer financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Canada. It is intended to provide guidance to actuaries in performing the valuation of group life and health liabilities and to provide supplemental information to the Standards of Practice for the Valuation of Policy Liabilities of Life Insurers ("draft life standards"). This note is intended to follow the principles described in that document.

This note draws on the work done previously by the Committee on Life Insurance Financial Reporting and reflects input from a number of actuaries currently practicing in this area. The Bibliography in Appendix 4 lists some reference sources.

For the definition of certain terms used in this note, please see the Glossary in Appendix 1.

2. SCOPE

This educational note applies to employee group insurance, association graup insurance and creditor group insurance.

This note applies to both participating and non-participating group life and health policies. From a valuation point of view (with the exception of "ownership live ads" which are ignored here), there is no substantive difference between a participating and non-participating group policy, and in each case it is the policy provisions that identify the considerations relevant to the valuation of policy liabilities.

The principles described for the valuation of direct winten business apply to the valuation of group life and health reinsurance received.

3. GROUP LIFE AND HEALTH BY SEVEN CHARACTERISTICS

Group life and health insurance is an arrangement whereby the members of a group, and sometimes their dependents, are insured under a matter tolic or contract. Each insured member typically receives a certificate of insurance. The term "group insurance" includes:

- employee groups sponsors by their employers,
- employee or profession becomes sponsored by their union or professional group, and
- creditor groups spon ared by the creditor of a group of debtors,

where membership in the group qualifies the insured (although individual underwriting may apply under certain conditions) and may also cover their dependents.

Most group life and health coverage is provided as an employment benefit, for the benefit of the company's employees and their dependents, and is at least partially paid for by the employer.

Association plans generally cover an association of individuals or groups for group coverage. Benefits are provided to a group of people with a common link such as a profession or a collection of small groups to form one large group. In the former case, premiums are generally paid for by the members and the latter, generally by a combination of employer and employee contributions.

Creditor group insurance is coverage provided to a collection of participants who have loans (including mortgages). Premiums may be single premiums or periodic premiums typically paid by the creditor and may be financed by a portion of the loan repayments made by the participants.

Underwriting of group life and health insurance is generally done at the group level and relies on high participation rates rather than individual evidence except for certain situations such as optional insurance, association or creditor groups, late entrants, or amounts exceeding underwriting maximums, where a form of individual underwriting is typically performed. Premium rates are generally guaranteed for one year, though longer premium rate guarantees are sometimes provided. Premiums are generally paid monthly except for paid-up life or paid-up creditor.

It is often the case that many provisions of the group life and health contract are not standard but are developed through a process of negotiation between the group policyholder and the insurer. For that reason, in the valuation of group life and health insurance it is especially important that the actuary be familiar with the provisions of each contract, so that all the risks are appropriately reflected in the valuation of policy liabilities.

4. BENEFIT DESCRIPTIONS

The list below is not meant to be exhaustive, but rather offers examples the types of benefit coverages typically offered. The purpose of these descriptions of benefits it to provide a framework for the discussion in this educational note, and not to limit the possible interpretation. The best source for benefit descriptions is the contract.

Long-term Disability (LTD)

LTD insurance provides protection to members of grown life and health policies from loss of income due to long-term disability arising from accident or sickness. LTD benefits are typically payable monthly once the member has been disabled as defined in the contract for a defined period of time, known as the elimination period. Both the definition of disability and the elimination period are outlined in the terms of the contract between the insurer and the grown policy holder. In most cases, the definition of disability is the complete inability to perform the assential tasks of one's own occupation during the first two years and any occupation for which they are reasonally fit thereafter. Benefits are typically paid to age 65 as long as the person continues to be traphed as defined in the contract.

LTD benefits usually cover so, to percentage of the disabled member's compensation. However, benefits may include some additional item, such as the expense of running an office. Where covered, these extra items are usually only covered for a short period of time, such as one or two years.

Benefit offsets may apply LTD benefits, where the amount of benefits is reduced to reflect other sources of earnings such as jovernment benefits, which include Canada Pension Plan (CPP), Québec Pension Plan (QPP), workers' compensation, and U.S. Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI).

Many LTD plans include Cost Of Living Adjustment (COLA) provisions that periodically increase benefits to help claimants deal with increases in the cost of living.

LTD plans often provide for partial benefits during periods of partial disability or rehabilitation, where the amount of the partial benefit is determined by reducing full benefits by the amount of employment income received. In some cases, the offset is less than the full amount of employment income as an incentive for the member to work to the full extent of his/her abilities.

Short-Term Disability (STD)

STD insurance provides disability coverage for a short period of time immediately upon disability or after a short elimination period. Typically, the benefit period is between four and six months, though it can be up to 12 months or longer, and is often coordinated with the elimination period of applicable LTD coverage.

Medical

Covered expenses include reasonable charges incurred for medically necessary services, medicines and supplies for the treatment of injury or disease, as described in the contract. Coverage is typically subject to internal limits such as deductibles, coinsurance and/or various maximums, and is coordinated with the medical coverage provided by provincial health insurance plans.

Coverage also may include benefits to provide for emergency medical treatment while travelling out of province (Canada) or out of country. For this type of travel insurance, planned treatment is not generally covered.

Dental

Covered expenses include reasonable charges, often limited by denta the schedules, incurred for necessary dental services as described in the contract. Cover we stypically subject to internal limits such as deductibles, coinsurance and/or various maximums.

Term Life

Term life insurance provides benefits upon deal of the insured member during the contract period. Upon termination of a member's coverage, the member has the option to convert some or all of the coverage to an individual life insurance policy, wheel a coup conversion benefit (see below).

Group Conversion Benefits

Group conversion benefits provide for conversion to an individual policy, without evidence of insurability, upon termination of the member's group coverage, either due to termination of the group contract without replacement coverage, termination of the member's participation. Group conversion benefits apply to term life insurance, and may apply to other coverages as well.

Waiver of Premium or Exter acc. Death

Waiver of premium insurance provides continued group life insurance coverage without premiums for insured members who satisfy the definition of disability for the elimination period. Typically, waiver benefits end at a specified age (65), but can continue as a lifetime benefit. The definition of disability for waiver of premium is typically the same as or more stringent than for LTD. Also, the waiver elimination period would typically be the same as or longer than the LTD elimination period. In group life and health contracts, waiver of premium benefits generally continue to provide extended life insurance coverage on disabled lives regardless of whether the group policy remains in force.

Accidental Death and Dismemberment

Accidental death provides benefits upon death that meets the contract definition of accidental, and dismemberment provides benefits upon loss of limbs, etc, as defined in the contract.

Optional Life

Additional amounts of life insurance are sometimes offered on an optional basis, usually in conjunction with a basic level of mandatory employee group term life insurance. The premium is typically step-rated and rates may be very competitive with individual term insurance. Risk characteristics and liabilities may be more similar to individual insurance than group insurance. Individual selection (underwriting) rules may apply, becoming more demanding as the amount of insurance increases.

Paid-up Life

Paid-up life insurance involves a single premium payment for permanent life insurance coverage on a member. It is sometimes used as a way to provide life coverage to retirees. Face amounts on paid-up life are typically level, but decreasing face amounts are sometimes provided.

Survivor Income Benefits (SIB)

Upon the death of an insured member, survivor income benefits (an annuity) are paid to the beneficiary. The period for which the annuity is payable depends on the contract provisions, and may be until the date at which the deceased member would have become age 65, the tree at which the beneficiary attains age 65, until the remarriage of the beneficiary, or the death of the beneficiary. Lump sum death benefits may also, at the election of the beneficiary, be settled in the torm of an annuity, and in this case, the valuation would be consistent with annuity valuation and may be reported with the annuity line of business on the insurer's financial statements.

Survivor Health Benefits

Upon death of an insured member, survivor health to neft provide continuing health insurance coverage to the surviving covered dependents for a deft ed period (usually 6 to 24 months).

Total and Permanent Disability

anent disability benefits are also provided with some group life Like waiver of premium, total and per hember upon total and permanent disability as defined in insurance. They provide benefits in red the contract, with the value <u>benefit</u> typically based on the face amount of the member's life the insurance. Benefits could be part in a lump sum or in installments, and are sometimes deferred to a future date based on the the laimant. Total and permanent disability, usually considered part of the group term life coveras as not been commonly available in recent years, but there are still group erage. The disability definition is usually more stringent than for disability policies in force with this co income benefits.

Creditor Insurance

Creditor life insurance typically pays the outstanding balance of a loan, mortgage or credit card upon death of the group life insured (debtor). Creditor disability insurance covers regular loan payments while the debtor meets the definition of disability. Creditor insurance may be either single premium or level premium and the premium is usually guaranteed for the term of the loan. Creditor plans typically require the applicant to complete a short form evidence questionnaire.

Creditor "job loss" insurance covers regular loan payments for a short time should the debtor become unemployed. Technically, life insurers are not licensed to offer such coverages but multi-line insurers, with separate life and property and casualty companies, may do so.

Association Plans

Association business refers to group insurance for an association of individuals covering the members of that association that is formed to bring together common objectives and interests. The contract is generally with the association, which could be a professional or trade group such as physicians, accountants, or musicians. The member typically has a certain choice of benefit amounts and coverage options (Life, LTD, Medical, Dental, etc.). Sometimes, an STD coverage is offered that will pay a professional's office expenses for a limited period of time while the person is disabled.

Association groups generally have a higher level of risk than employee groups because of anti-selection, and risk characteristics and liabilities may be more similar to individual insurance than group insurance. Individual selection (underwriting) rules may apply, becoming more demanding as the amount of insurance increases. The specific characteristics of both the association group and the coverages would be a consideration in the assumptions used to project the liability cash flows.

Flex Benefits

Under flexible benefit (flex) plans, a variety of benefits are available at various coverage levels with each member having a choice of benefit levels. Flex benefits generally creat, additional risk since the member selects the benefit level. To reduce the risk on flex plans, controls such as cost sharing, limits on changing benefit levels, and evidence requirements when increasing benefit levels are used.

5. FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS

Most employer group life and health insurance policies are sold on a yearly renewable term basis with no guarantee of renewability, and commonly have a 30-by grace period for premium payment. The premium level is usually guaranteed for the year except for medical benefits where there is often a conditional guarantee that allows premiums to change under certain circumstances, such as a major change to the covered expenses under a proxinical health insurance plan. Premium guarantees are sometimes extended beyond one year especially for new business. Renewal premium determination (and/or some form of profit sharing) or a group policy may follow the insurer's normal practices or may be specified in a financial agree ment

Some of the more common financial arrangements are described below. This list is not intended to be exhaustive nor to limit the possible interpretations, but rather provides a framework for the discussion in this educational note. The last source for description of the financial arrangements is the contract and any supplemental financial agreement with the policyholder.

Fully Pooled

Under fully pooled arrangements, the group policyholder pays an agreed premium rate (sometimes referred to as the manual rate) that is based on the experience of a pool of groups. The premium rates may vary by a number of factors, such as industry, location (high employment areas versus low), sex, age and occupation of members. The pooled experience may include all the group experience of the insurer, or only some of it, and may also reflect industry experience.

Prospectively Rated

Under prospectively rated arrangements, the group policyholder's premiums rates are a weighted average of the insurer's manual rates and rates based on the group's own experience. The weight given to a group's actual experience is based on the credibility of the group's experience. The premium rating is done for future periods only and the policyholder is not eligible for any refunds of past experience gains.

In the rate-setting process, adjustments to the group's claims experience are sometimes made to mitigate volatility in rates and improve persistency. For example, catastrophic or large amount claims that are not likely to recur may be reduced or eliminated.

Fully pooled and prospectively rated arrangements are similar in that, having set the premium for the contract period, the policyholder is required to either pay it or forfeit coverage. At the end of the period, the premium for the subsequent period is reset based on the insurer's best estimate of future experience, which takes into consideration the most recent experience, or the insurer may choose not to renew the coverage. A fully pooled arrangement may be thought of as being merely a special case of prospective rating, where the credibility of the group is zero.

Refund Accounting

Under refund accounting arrangements, premiums for a coverage period are based at least partly on the group's experience, similar to prospective rating arrangements. The main difference between the two financial arrangements is that under refund accounting, a determination of the prior period experience surplus or deficit is performed. The policyholder may be eligible to receive a refund if experience is better than that assumed in determining the premium for that period (i.e., there is an experience surplus). If the experience is worse than assumed, a deficit will result. The financial agreement with the policyholder will typically describe the terms for refund a counting and treatment of deficits (for example, deficits are usually carried forward to future period.).

Refund accounting is generally offered only on large groups, and is more commonly available on medical/dental benefits, where the group's own part experience is usually considered to be a good predictor of future experience.

In refund accounting, the deficit or surplus position is determined with respect to the group for each coverage period according to the agreed account. In there is a deficit, renewal premium rates are usually set to recover the deficit over a period of time. If there is a surplus, it is usually refunded as an Experience Rating Refund (ERR) to the policyholder. To help stabilize future premium rates, it is common for insurers to hold back surplus up to a limb pecified in the financial agreement. This is called a Claims Fluctuation Reserve (CFR) and is described in section 7.5.2. Cross-pooling of experience, where gains on one benefit are used to recover osses on another benefit, is common.

The policyholder may negot ate to ling of certain catastrophic claims to reduce the risk of adverse claims and the possibility of having a late deficit that is difficult to repay. Some types of catastrophic pooling that may be reflected in refund accounting include aggregate and individual stop loss or high amount pooling, and out of province/country medical claims pooling. Stop-loss is a term used to describe a risk-sharing arrangement where claims in excess of a stipulated amount, for either the group as a whole or by individual, are pooled. In addition to catastrophic pooling, partial pooling of LTD claims is often negotiated on a durational pooling (where disability payments beyond an initial period are pooled, usually the first two or five years of disability) or percentage basis (sometimes referred to as quota share).

When pooling exists, the insurer charges the policyholder a pool charge for the benefits pooled and removes pooled claims from the refund accounting calculation.

In the rate setting process, discretionary adjustments to the group's claims experience are sometimes made to mitigate volatility in rates and improve persistency. For example, catastrophic or large amount claims that are not likely to recur may be reduced or eliminated from the rate setting process even in the absence of pooling in the financial agreement with the policyholder. In this situation, these claims would generally continue to be included in the determination of the deficit/surplus position for policyholder refund accounting.

The valuation basis that is used for the policy liabilities in determining the group's deficit/surplus is typically specified in the financial agreement and is called the policyholder valuation basis in this educational note. The policyholder valuation basis is often different from the basis used for the valuation of policy liabilities in the insurer's financial statements. Refund accounting rules are negotiated between the group policyholder and the insurer and occasionally the policyholder valuation basis is included in the negotiation for large groups. The basis is specified in the financial agreement or the contract.

For groups with refund accounting, the establishment of appropriate GAAP valuation assumptions would normally be independent of the policyholder valuation basis used for prospective rate setting and ERRs. However, the policyholder valuation basis might have a bearing on the appropriate statement liability to be held, particularly the liability for future experience rating refunds and the liability for future claims. It could also impact the recoverability of deferred acquisition expense or deficit recovery assets.

Retrospective Premium Arrangement

In retrospective premium arrangements, the group policyholder and the insure agree on the payment of a specified premium, "x", which is less than the insurer would no mally require for the coverages provided. If x falls short of defined requirements (claims plus expense are profit, say "y"), then the policyholder agrees to reimburse the insurer for y minus x after an accounting period has been completed. These arrangements are used when the policyholder believe that claims will fall below those anticipated by the insurer, but is willing to pay the required arount to the insurer turns out to be correct.

Retrospective premium arrangements are offered only on an eleptional basis and are usually restricted to policies with refund accounting and to policyholders who are credit worthy.

Administrative Services Only (ASO)

In purely ASO arrangements, the group policyholder pays for all benefits and expenses, and the insurer acts as an administrator and/or claims a ljudicator only.

ASO contracts are most commonly sed in group medical and dental coverages. They are generally not offered with group life instructions and accordance because of adverse tax consequences for the beneficiary.

Split Funded Arrangements

"Split funded" is used to disc be landing arrangements that involve a combination of insured and ASO coverage. An example is a **n inimum premium** arrangement, where the policyholder pays for all claims up to a specified maximum and then coverage is insured (subject to refund accounting) beyond that maximum.

Sometimes a form of risk sharing on ASO plans occurs beyond certain maximum claim amounts either at an individual or combined group (aggregate) level. This can be referred to as stop-loss coverage, catastrophic claims pooling, or high amount pooling. The insurer charges a premium for the risks assumed in this coverage. When stop-loss or other pooling is provided with an ASO plan, the excess claims could be fully pooled or may involve refund accounting, depending on the financial agreement with the policyholder.

Hold Harmless Agreements

Under hold harmless agreements, the policyholder agrees to pay certain outstanding liabilities, such as incurred but not reported claims, upon termination of the policy. The valuation basis for the liabilities is defined in the contract. Insurers typically only provide these agreements on short-term liabilities since there are significant additional risks and higher capital requirements associated with longer-term liabilities. Hold harmless agreements are most commonly offered on medical/dental benefits and are contingent on the credit worthiness of the policyholder.

In the case of hold harmless agreements, the insurer actually holds the liabilities but establishes an offsetting asset for the policyholder's promise to take responsibility for the specific liabilities as defined in the agreement.

No Risk Agreements

Under no risk agreements, the policyholder agrees to reimburse the insurer for any deficit arising under the policy either annually or upon termination of the contract.

6. THE CANADIAN ASSET LIABILITY METHOD AND MATERIALITY CONSIDERATIONS

The Canadian Asset Liability Method (CALM) as described in section 6 of the draft life standards is the appropriate method of valuation for group life and health policy collision.

Valuation of group life and health business poses many challenge, for the actuary. There are several reasons for this.

- Group insurance encompasses employer group, association, creditor and what in some companies is referred to as "special risks", which is typic has a form of group insurance with emphasis on accidental injury and death. Contract fe tares, underwriting and claims experience, reporting systems, compensation and other expenses, tanefit provisions and reinsurance will usually differ among these different lines.
- There is a wide variety of berank and fine cial arrangements.
- For groups beyond a certal size, a tracts are usually the result of negotiation and, thus, involve customization to meet the client's specific needs. This customization creates additional complexity in the valuation. Valving the habilities for these policies requires familiarity with the specific contract terms. There may be a main contract and one or more side agreements, usually for refund accounting. Sometimes, the documentation of these agreements is poor. Terminology varies greatly.
- Third party administrators (TPAs) are common and their record keeping and administration practices do not always meet the actuary's needs.
- Large groups are commonly subject to retrospective rating in the form of refund accounting, which adds an additional degree of complexity to the valuation work. Because the actuary's valuation is prospective in nature, the liability for future experience rating refunds reflects the value of a future refund, and may not be simply equal to the experience surplus at the valuation date. This is particularly true where the statement and policyholder valuation bases differ.
- Because of the wide variety of benefit types, contract provisions and rating practices, reliable experience data is often scarce.

• While group contracts are traditionally of a short-term nature, the theoretical term of the liability for future claims for some of these coverages ("group business that behaves like individual business") is determined life by life and is related to the ages or lifetimes of the individual participants, as it would be in individual insurance (see section 7.4.1). Group administration practices apply even to groups that, for valuation purposes, behave like individual business. As a result, policy data and valuation systems may not be readily available to serve the actuary's valuation purposes. Moreover, while the valuation of the future claims liability life by life is well accepted for some coverages (e.g., paid-up life and creditor insurance), it is not common practice for others like association group. If refund accounting applies in such cases, the refund accounting rules may not include a future claim liability of this nature. This may complicate the actuary's valuation of the liability for future experience rating refunds.

• There are often data issues affecting the valuation of group life and health plans. Some of the common data issues are discussed in Appendix 3.

Fortunately, there are factors that will mitigate this complexity and riality is one that plays an important role. Section 4.11 of the draft life standards sets out the standards for materiality. general There is little guidance there in terms of quantitative norms, is a matter of judgment applied in specific circumstances. Companies will view m erently depending on their circumstances. The most rigorous condition is that a compady dishemateriality guidelines for each group or case that meets certain criteria (for example, lar less rigorous condition is that least rigorous is where only the overall materiality is only defined for the overall line of busing company or branch materiality is defined.

Immaterial deviations tend to add up. Some actual s, he accountants, keep a "scoresheet" to ensure that a number of immaterial deviations done and up to a material impact relative to the company's overall materiality standard.

This educational note describes a theoretical approach to the valuation. There are many situations where approximations may be appropriate do to the materiality of the liability and/or complexity of the calculations. A few such situations are identified in this note.

7. ASSET AND LIABILITY CASH FLOWS

Section 7 of the draft life standards provides general guidance in selecting cash flow assumptions.

Asset cash flows for group life and health valuation generally follow assumptions and methods consistent with those used for other products. Unlike most other products, however, outstanding premiums are often a significant asset, and the valuation recognizes the associated interest rate risk.

Group life and health liability cash flows may have significant inherent uncertainty. This may be due to volatility of health claims experience and differences between the policyholder and statement valuation bases, or interest crediting practices. (See section 7.5.4 for elaboration on the risk associated with interest crediting approach.)

The following subsections discuss considerations for selecting liability cash flow assumptions for group life and health products with some specific considerations for certain coverages and financial arrangements. Because there is significant variation in the benefits and financial arrangements offered by different insurers and negotiated with different policyholders, it is not reachible to describe the selection of liability cash flow assumptions for all situations. However, the principles discussed in this educational note should be applicable to all group life and health benefits and financial arrangements. When considering a benefit or financial arrangement that is not specifically discussed in this note or in the draft life standards, it is recommended that the actuary review the principles discussed for similar situations and follow a consistent approach.

The following discussion of liability cash flows is divided into commonly used categories of liabilities. While categorization practices vary by insurer it is the actuary's responsibility to ensure that the valuation adequately provides for all risks, without smission or double-counting of any future liability cash flows.

7.1 Liability for Reported Claims

Liability cash flows associated with the liability for reported claims include all future benefit payments and expenses associated with claims hat are ported prior to the valuation date, but exclude cash flows for amounts that are due and usually respection 7.2).

7.1.1 Long-Term Disability (TD)

In most cases, LTD benefits or reported claims continue to be paid by the insurer after a group terminates. Therefore, cash flows for LTD claims are normally projected until the end of the benefit period. Claims administration expenses would generally be projected in a manner consistent with the projected benefit payments.

Termination Rates

Section 7.2.3 of the draft life standards discusses considerations in determining assumptions, including margins for adverse deviations (MADs), for LTD termination rates. In setting termination rate assumptions, it is important to consider factors, such as partial disability, COLA benefits, unusual contract provisions (e.g., longer own occupation periods) or recent changes to the standard definition of disability or own occupation period, that influence the extent to which past experience or industry experience is a guide to future experience.

The 1987 Basic GLTD table is often used as a starting point for establishing the valuation termination assumptions for LTD. Since it is based on U.S. experience from 1962 to 1980, the table may require modification to be appropriate for use in valuing Canadian LTD benefits. Most companies modify the 1987 GLTD table based on their own experience. The CIA published a study of Canadian group LTD experience covering the years 1988 to 1994 in May 1998 which provides helpful information for use in establishing LTD termination assumptions. Work to update the study for 1995, 1996 and 1997 experience is underway.

For business which is individually underwritten, including most association and creditor plans, it is common for actuaries to use an individual disability table. The 1985 CIDA table is often used as a starting point. This is also a U.S. table and modifications to the termination rates are commonly used to establish valuation assumptions. Since there is no employer/employee relationship in association or creditor plans, the pressures and other influences to return to work may be different from those of employee groups. This could impact the appropriate termination assumptions.

Actuaries often vary termination rate assumptions by different factors including sex and definition of disability (e.g., own occupation versus any occupation). It assessing trends in termination assumptions, a number of factors are usually considered. The following list provides examples of some factors that may impact trends:

- changes in the mix of disabilities by cause
- changes in the mix of disabilities by severity (for example, 1) are percentage of partial disabilities is changing, termination rates may be affected)
- changes in the level of benefits provided, (for example if benefits are a high percentage of the insured's compensation, termination rates in y be lower than otherwise)
- changes in claims administration practices
- changes in the impact of anticipated benear offsets on termination rates, (some actuaries may vary the termination rate assumptions between claimants with benefit offsets and those without offsets).

Benefit Offsets

To avoid overinsurance, LTD cortracts typically provide that contractual benefits will be reduced by the amount of any benefit parameter from government plans like CPP, QPP, SSDI and workers' compensation. It is appropriate for the projected benefit payments to reflect the impact of any benefit offsets that are stipulated to a contract. These include expected future benefit reductions both for government benefits that have already been approved and for those that are expected to be approved in future, sometimes with retroactive effect.

The assumption for expected future approvals for government benefits would vary by time since disability, and would generally be based on prior experience modified for any material trends or changes that are expected to take place. For example, if the government is applying stricter criteria in approving claimants for government benefits, the actuary would consider the applicability of this trend to the projected liability cash flows. Another possible source of information for setting this assumption is the claims adjudicators' assessment of the probability of each claimant being approved for government benefits. Moreover, the criteria for acceptance for government benefits will vary by government plan and could change over time. The actuary projects benefit offsets consistent with the government benefit plan and trends, with an appropriate MAD for uncertainty. It would normally be assumed that there is no likelihood of future approvals for a given claim after a few years of disability. In fact, recent CPP changes have significantly reduced the probability of a claim being approved after two years from the date of disability.

The amount of benefit offset assumed for any claimant would generally be based on prior experience modified for any material trends or expected changes. Another consideration would be the probability that a claimant receiving government benefits would be terminated by the government plan (in particular workers' compensation) while still satisfying the definition of disability under the insured LTD plan. The liability cash flows would also include any anticipated future recovery of offsets associated with past benefit payments (for example, a lump sum payment for prior periods may be anticipated from the government or from a third party).

COLA Provisions

Projected benefit cash flows are affected by COLA provisions. In projecting COLA increases, the actuary reflects the contract provisions related to the timing of increases and how the rate of increase is determined. Though some plans have a fixed rate of increase, COLA increases are usually defined as a certain percentage (typically 100%) of the rate of increase in the consumer price index (CPI) up to a stated maximum. The maximum could be applied for each year separately or have a cumulative catch-up provision. In most plans, the COLA increase is applied to be specific amount net of offsets. For plans where the COLA increase is based on the CPI, the as umption for future CPI increases would be consistent with the valuation interest rate scenario.

Pending/Resisted/Suspended Claims and Claims Under Apr a

The valuation should make sufficient provision for any caims the are pending, resisted, suspended, or under appeal, including associated legal costs. Sending claims are recently reported claims for which the claims administration area has not yet recently sufficient information to approve the claim. Resisted claims and claims under appearare spically claims that the insurer has declined or terminated where the claimant is appealing the lecision or has undertaken a lawsuit against the insurer. Suspended claims are claims when the insurer has temporarily stopped benefit payments, often while waiting for the claimant to provide more information.

A reasonable approach to provide for these claims is to determine the percentage of claims in each category that will become approved claims, and apply this percentage to the liability cash flows that would be applicable if the lair and ore currently receiving benefits. The percentage of claims that will become approved claims could generally be based on past experience, modified for any relevant trends or changes in cannot approval practices. For resisted claims, the actuary would benefit from consulting with the least area periodically when establishing the appropriate assumption. The assumptions of the percentage of claims that will become approved claims would be increased to provide an appropriate MAD.

Also, recent terminations and declines may give an indication of appeals that have not yet been reported. These could be reflected in the valuation in a manner similar to the above, or as part of the IBNR liability (see section 7.3).

Recurrence of Disability

In some cases, disability claimants who have recovered from disability will have a recurrence of the same disability. The contract provisions will normally define the criteria for a disability to be viewed as a recurrence as opposed to a new claim. If the claim is deemed to be a recurrence, the claimant would not be required to satisfy the elimination period before receiving benefits. Typically, provision for recurring disabilities is made as part of the IBNR liability, but other methods may be used. For example, the provision might be included with the liability for reported claims by reducing the disability termination rates to adjust for recurrences. The actuary would ensure that provision is made for recurrence on both currently open claims and recently closed claims.

When profitability issues arise, existing LTD claims are often closely scrutinized for validity and terminations increase for a period of time. This may change the probability of claim decisions being reversed upon appeal or increase recurrence of disabilities. Actuaries generally take into account the impact of changes in claims practices in establishing assumptions for recurrence of disability and the liability for LTD claims under appeal.

Claims Terminated But Not Reported

Some actuaries give consideration to claims that have term nated when notification hasn't yet been received or processed by the insurer.

Rehabilitation/Partial Disability

Often disability claimants with partial disability and/or undergoing rehabilitation will be able to perform some portion of their previous position or work part-time during their recovery. In these cases, LTD plans typically continue to pay benefit at areduced level that reflects an offset for salary earned. Most LTD plans allow partial benefits for the rehabilitation period and some plans allow partial disability benefits for much longer periods of time. The liability cash flows would reflect net benefit payments related to rehabilitation and partial disability.

Unusual Financial Arrange nen

LTD plans can have unusual frametal arrangements affecting the valuation. For example, the plan could be ASO for a period of time (e.g., two years) after disability, and insured thereafter. In this case, it might be reasonable treat the plan like an insured plan with an elimination period equal to the period during which he contract is ASO (two years in the example). Depending on materiality, a more precise approach may be warranted. For example, if reliable information on claimants receiving LTD benefits under the ASO plan is available (the insurer may be providing the claims administration during the ASO period or have access to the information from the administrator), the actuary could:

- calculate an appropriate IBNR liability for the ASO elimination period, and
- use the information about claimants receiving ASO benefits to determine liability cash flows for benefits and expenses after the insured period begins.

7.1.2 Short-Term Disability (STD)

STD benefits are typically used in conjunction with an LTD plan to provide income replacement benefits during the LTD elimination period. STD valuation is much simpler than LTD due to the short benefit period, though for STD plans with long benefit periods, the methods used for LTD valuation might apply. For STD plans with short benefit periods, a seriatim projection of benefit payments for each claim is normally not necessary, and the liability for reported claims is sometimes included with the IBNR liability (see section 7.3). Judgement is used to determine the appropriate approach for each plan.

7.1.3 Waiver of Premium or Extended Death Benefit

Waiver of premium benefits under group insurance contracts typically require the insurer to continue to provide life coverage to disabled lives after the group terminates. In these cases, when a group moves from one insurer to another, only the active employees would be covered in the group life benefit with the new insurer. Group waiver of premium liability cash flows are the projected death benefits that the insurer expects to pay on disabled lives and related expenses. Waiver coverages typically include options to convert to individual life insurance policies when benefits terminate or reduce, and the cost of such conversions is reflected in the lightlity cash flows.

The 1970 Kreiger table is commonly used as the basis for exing expected assumptions for waiver termination rates. Since this table is out of date and there is no a more recent study of industry experience, most insurers use a modification of the Kreiger table based on their own experience. The modification typically involves reducing the nortain, actes and perhaps increasing the recovery rates of the Kreiger table, both of which have the effect of reducing the liability.

Considerations for setting expected terms at a ra assumptions for waiver benefits are similar to those for setting expected termination umptions for LTD benefits, although the impact of the termination assumptions is different. For waive, benefits terminate on recovery from disability but on mortality the death benefit is par lly, different termination assumptions are used for LTD Typiq and waiver based on the exp benefit. Since many groups will have only one of LTD or nen e oi c waiver, and groups with its may have different definitions of disability, the insurer's termination experience may a significantly different on an aggregate basis for waiver and LTD. lower for waiver than LTD, since claims assessors put more effort into Typically, recovery ra the typical waiver definition of disability is more stringent than LTD. managing LTD claims a

Typically, margins for al werse deviation for waiver termination are expressed as a percentage of expected termination rates for both death and recovery. MADs would reduce rates of recovery and usually increase mortality rates on waiver. This is usually the opposite direction to the LTD mortality MAD since most insurers do not distinguish terminations on LTD between death and recovery. The actuary would ensure that the aggregate PFAD is appropriate.

7.1.4 Survivor Income Benefits (SIB)

SIB plans typically pay an annuity to the surviving spouse or children after an insured member of a group life plan dies. SIB plans may include a COLA provision and considerations similar to those described in section 7.1.1 (LTD) could be used to project COLA increases on SIB plans.

For plans where SIB benefits terminate or reduce on remarriage, it is difficult to develop an appropriate remarriage assumption for the valuation. Industry data are scarce, and remarriage rates can be affected by claims practices. Subject to materiality considerations, many actuaries assume no remarriage for simplicity.

When SIB benefits have a life contingent element, annuitant mortality tables are typically used as the basis for establishing the expected mortality assumption. Section 7.2.2 of the draft life standards contains guidance for choosing annuitant mortality assumptions. Mortality assumptions for SIB are typically based on group annuitant mortality tables, although in some cases, individual annuitant mortality tables or another basis, such as population mortality tables are used. Some considerations influencing the choice of mortality assumption are:

- group tables are based on employee mortality rather than mortality of st buses,
- various options available to the beneficiary (e.g., option to take a formuted value) may cause anti-selection, and
- the age range at which benefits are paid (most SIB be lefich ses are at younger ages where there is little experience for most group tables).

7.1.5 Other Benefits

There are a number of other benefits provided and group life and health policies that may require a reported claim liability. These include to all and permanent disability benefits and settlement annuities (i.e., where death benefits are part in the form of an annuity at the request of the beneficiary). These types of benefit are no commonly offered today, but may exist on older plans. Since the benefits differ among a sure and among groups, understanding the contract provisions is necessary in order to projet the corropriate liability cash flows.

7.2 Liability for Claims Que and Unpaid

Claims due and unpaid inc ud payments due on claims admitted but not paid, but do not include claims reported but not admitted. The liability for claims due and unpaid represents an exact recognition for a known amount owing but not paid. Hence, it requires neither an actuarial valuation nor a provision for adverse deviations. The liability for reported claims is coordinated with the liability for claims due and unpaid, to ensure that there is no double-counting or omission of liabilities.

7.3 Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) Claim Liabilities

IBNR claims arise from lags in:

- reporting of claims to the insurer, and
- recording by the insurer of claims which have been reported. For example, some insurers delay
 recording of disability claims incurred until the end of the elimination period.

The IBNR liability provides for benefits and expenses on claims that have been incurred but not reported as at the valuation date. It may also provide for other things, such as claims that have temporarily closed but will reopen and denied claims that will be litigated at some future date.

For benefits without interest rate risk (for example, medical, dental, term life, STD), a simple approach to projecting IBNR cash flows is usually used, or the actuary may do interest rate scenario testing ignoring the IBNR for these benefits and then add the IBNR liability to the result.

For benefits with significant interest rate risk on new claims (for example, LTD and waiver), the IBNR liability cash flows might materially affect the interest rate scenario testing and the resulting provision for interest rate risk. The liability cash flows related to IBNR claims could be estimated by examination of the liability cash flows on corresponding reported claims, with modifications as appropriate. For example, the liability cash flow pattern for LTD IBNR claims may be similar to the liability cash flow pattern on existing disabled lives, perhaps restricted to early duration claims.

Although practices vary, generally the IBNR liabilities for LTD, STD and premium waiver benefits are included with the actuarial liabilities (as defined for the financial statement, and for the other benefits (e.g., supplementary health, dental, AD&D, SIB and life), the IBNR vabilities are included with claims due and unpaid. For benefits where the IBNR is included with claims due and unpaid, the change in IBNR will flow through benefits paid on the income statement.

In situations where a hold harmless agreement exists on the BNR liabilities, the insurer is, nonetheless, responsible for paying incurred claims. Therefore, the full IBNR liability should be held, with a corresponding receivable asset to recognize the terms of the numbers agreement.

Considerations in Developing the IBNR Claims

Lags affecting the amount of IBNR claims was by plan and benefit type and, therefore, the actuary should exercise caution when estimating IBNR chains from grouped historical data. For example, it may be inappropriate to group electronically adjudicated with reimbursement drug claims if the claim settlement patterns (lags) are different.

Specific factors that can affect claim was some of which may be unique to the current reporting period, include:

- level of claim proc ssn, backlog
- variations among class as administrators,
- changes in benefits of exposure,
- seasonal variations.
- severe weather conditions,
- disruptions in the postal service,
- corporate reorganizations which impact the processing of claims,
- economic conditions (recessions will impact reporting of claims for elective treatments),
- varying claim submission practices among group policyholders,
- length of time the contract has been in force,
- inclusion of reported claims that have not yet satisfied the elimination period and the level of these claims,
- inclusion of closed claims that will reopen, as well as the level of recently closed claims,
- changes in the insurer's claims practices, and
- other external events.

Trends in factors such as inflation, utilization, and technology may influence estimated IBNR claims. If in-force premiums are used to estimate the IBNR claims, adjustments may be necessary to reflect shorter lag periods as in the case of new or terminated plans; one approach to deal with this is through the use of rolling average premiums. The impact of changes in the adequacy of pricing levels would also be considered when the estimated IBNR claims are based on premiums.

Approaches to Establish the IBNR Liability

Subject to periodic testing of appropriateness (including the impact on interest rate risk), approximations are commonly used to develop the IBNR liability. The approaches described below are some examples of approximations used.

- a) factor method The factor method is generally used for benefits where there is a short lag or run-off period (e.g., group term life insurance). The liability is usually established as a percentage of premium in force at the valuation date, based on past experience modified as appropriate for any anticipated changes in experience. Other variations in the formula include the use of a percentage of paid claims, percentage of the reported claims liability, or percentage of the factorians.
- b) loss ratio method This method is a refinement of the factor method and may be suitable for cases where the recording of LTD claims is delayed intil after the elimination period. This method uses the sum of the average elimination period and the average reporting lag, multiplied by a loss ratio multiplied by premiums in force.
- c) lag or development method This method involves the development of paid claims by period of incurral and payment, which is used to develop a claim run-off chart. The claim run-off chart displays claim completion percentages for each month of incurral. The completion percentages would be adjusted as appropriate for any price of inclequacy.

7.4 Liability for Future Claims

Liability cash flows associated with the liability for future claims include benefit payments and expenses associated with claims that have not been incurred as at the valuation date but will be incurred before the end of the term of the liability outure premiums up to and including the end of the term of the liability are also projected as negative liability cash flows.

7.4.1 Term of the Fire Clara Liability

In establishing the term of the liability, which delineates those insured events to be included in the valuation of future claim, the specific contract provisions for each policy should be considered. The actuary should refer to section 4.8 of the draft life standards for general guidance on the term of the liability, and to section 4.10, which discusses special considerations applicable to group contracts.

For traditional employer group life and health policies, the term of the liability extends to the next date at which premium rates can be adjusted, called the next "rate adjustment date". This is typically the next policy renewal date except in the case of longer-term rate guarantees, where the next rate adjustment date is the end of the rate guarantee period.

Typically, pricing for a renewal is done in advance. When the insurer has committed prior to the valuation date to the rates for a future renewal, the term of the future claim liability extends to the end of the next renewal period. For example, for a March 1 renewal where the insurer has committed to rates for the next policy year prior to year end, the term of the liability is 14 months for the year end valuation.

A different term of the liability from the next rate adjustment date may be appropriate for certain group life and health coverages. Optional group life and health coverages may operate more like a block of individual policies than a traditional group contract, and a life by life valuation is often appropriate for optional coverages, including creditor, association and optional coverages offered to employees of an employee group. In some cases, the actuary may have no choice but to value the liability for these members as if the coverage were individual and establish the term of the liability on a life by life basis as discussed in section 4.10.2 of the draft life standards. Fortunately, certain contract provisions are commonly present that may reduce the liability to an immaterial level, or eliminate altogether the need to consider a life by life approach. These features include step-rating, refund accounting and policyholder subsidization.

The presence of premiums that increase in attained age steps in line with claims costs will often result in a minimal liability determined life by life, even after providing for anti-selective lapsation at the step points by individual members of the group. Employer or other subsidization can temper individual choice and reduce the impact on the insurer of individual anti-selection. This may also be the case if the financial arrangements with the group involve re and ac ounting. In these cases, a simpler, aggregate approach to the valuation can usually be installed in the simpler of the simpler. fied. H wever, regardless of the financial arrangement, the long-term financial consequ premium structure and policyholder accounting should be considered in the ya ati n. For example, if the premium is relatively level by attained age while claims costs inc age, and the refund accounting ease ignores the life by life liability, costs could significantly acrease over time and a simple aggregate approach to the valuation would generally not be opro-

Once the term of the future claim liability is esta lished, the valuation should then include all liability cash flows associated with claims incarred up to the end of the term of the liability. The projection of asset and liability cash flows a tends to the date the last liability cash flow occurs, for example, benefit payments and claims expenses are projected to the end of the benefit period. Premiums and general administrative expense cash flows are projected to the end of the term of the future claim liability.

7.4.2 Liability Cash Flow Considerations for Rate Guarantees

When future premium tess are guaranteed, it is important that the guarantees on all benefits be reflected in the valuation since the interest rates, expenses and other assumptions built into the premiums will not be changed before the next rate adjustment date, it is important to understand the interest rate, claims, expense and other risks to ensure that any inadequacies in the premiums and any material interest rate risk are appropriately reflected in the future claims liabilities. The longer the term of the premium rate guarantee, the more material is the exposure to risk of inadequate pricing and to interest rate risk.

In the context of group life and health benefits, LTD benefit liabilities are usually the most sensitive to interest rate changes during the rate guarantee period. The interest rate assumed in the premiums applies to all premiums until the next rate adjustment date, so the insurer is at risk if interest rates fall below that level. Provision for this risk is incorporated in the liabilities by including projected cash flows associated with future claims in the interest rate scenario testing of the CALM.

The valuation only reflects commitments made as at the valuation date and, hence, does not include cash flows for new coverages or new groups. However, where the insurer has no choice, or little choice but to accept coverage on new lives at guaranteed premium rates, future claims on those lives may affect the valuation. However, if new employees are just replacing terminated employees, or if guaranteed premium rates are adequate, new entrants may not be a material consideration.

Projection of benefit and expense cash flows for some types of future claims theoretically requires assumptions for both incidence rates and termination rates. Benefit and expense cash flows for future claims are usually projected using consistent assumptions as those used in the liability for reported claims of the same benefit type. Section 7.2.3 of the draft life standards contains relevant guidance. Expected incidence rates used to project future claims may be developed from past experience modified for any trends or anticipated changes, however, in practice, incidence rate assumptions are difficult to develop, and so approximate methods are often used to generate cash flows for the future claims liability. The longer the term of the future claim liability, the more difficult it is to develop an approximation that does not use explicit incidence rates. Therefore if the term of the future claim liability is long, it is usually necessary to develop explicit incidence a sumptions. The following section discusses some approximate approaches that are used.

Use of Approximations

In using any approximation for the projection of future clasms, the actuary assesses whether the approximation appropriately provides for all risks. In particular, for LTD benefits, it is important to consider whether the approximation makes appropriate a toxision for interest rate risk. Also, for refund accounting cases or unusual financial arrangements, the additional complexities of the financial arrangement can affect the appropriate resolution approximation.

One example of an approximate method (arch uses implicit assumptions for incidence rates) for projecting benefit and expense cash lows for LVD future claims which can be used in the interest rate scenario testing when the term of the liability s the next rate adjustment date is as follows:

- a) Determine a "valuation beneat factor" which is the percentage of premium required to provide for future benefits and claim colministration expenses for claims that will be incurred between the valuation date and the next rate adjustment date (i.e., remove provisions for general administration expense and profit margins from the premium).
- b) Adjust the valuation lenefit factor as appropriate to provide for any pricing inadequacies in the block of business (e.g. if pricing changes are being implemented but have not yet been applied to the entire block, the factor would be increased).
- c) Increase the valuation benefit factor to add a margin for adverse deviations for incidence. This method only involves adding a margin for incidence to the valuation benefit factor since termination rate margins and claims administration expense margins are already included in the percentage of premium required to provide for future benefits and expenses in a) above. The incidence margin does not need to be very large since the term of the future claim liability is short. Many actuaries would feel that a 5% margin is sufficient.
- d) Using a reasonable cash flow pattern including margins for new LTD claims, develop the cash flow stream such that the present value of that stream at the average pricing interest rate (which includes pricing margins) on the insurer's block of business is equal to the premium multiplied by the valuation benefit factor from c) (which includes the incidence margin).

Simpler approximations may be appropriate in some circumstances. One example would be to determine the present value of the premium shortfall under current interest rates adjusted by a margin to provide for adverse deviations in interest rates. This approximation is unlikely to be appropriate if there is a high degree of interest rate risk.

For benefits without any material interest rate risk (e.g., short-term benefits such as medical and dental) and for which pricing is adequate, the liability associated with future claims funded by future premiums is usually immaterial and the associated cash flows can be ignored. Moreover, for monthly premium business where there is no material interest rate risk or pricing inadequacy, the unearned premium is a reasonable approximation to the future claims liability. This approximation effectively assumes that the pricing basis closely approximates the expected claims and expenses plus PFAD.

For groups where the term of the liability is determined life-by-life, the size of the group may be small in comparison to the materiality standard, or the premiums may be stepped, which tends to reduce the future claim liability. Even without detailed participant data, the actuary may be able to carry out some broad testing for representative ages and durations that demonstrates that the aggregate future claim liability is small or negative and can safely be ignored.

7.4.3 Paid-Up Life

Most paid-up life insurance provides coverage on retire's Cash flows for future benefits and expenses are projected for all future years until expiry of the exact period or death of the insured member.

Available group insurance mortality tables do not have as much experience in the post-retirement period as at working ages. Therefore, the expected mortality assumption generally includes consideration of the insurer's own experience, industry group life mortality experience and population mortality. Typically, confidence is leading to a higher margin for future mortality experience apply.

7.4.4 Creditor Insurance

Since each creditor group as it can unique features, it is important for the actuary to review the contract provisions to determ ne how to appropriately value the liabilities. Creditor plans with disability coverage with the liabilities for reported claims (see section 7.1) and IBNR liabilities (see section 7.3) as well as In brities for future claims.

Premiums are typically guaranteed at the time a loan is insured for the term of the loan, but premium rates can normally be changed for future loans after the next rate adjustment date. In such cases, the term of the liability is to the end of the loan for insured loans. Subject to materiality, future loans to the "next rate adjustment date" would be included in the valuation if the insurer must accept them at guaranteed rates. The degree of interest rate risk and potential pricing inadequacy affect the materiality of the impact of future loans and the appropriateness of any approximations.

Mortality and morbidity assumptions for creditor insurance cash flows are typically different from other group life and health insurance because of differences in evidence of insurability requirements, pre-existing exclusions, characteristics of members, etc. For large creditor groups, it may be appropriate to determine mortality and morbidity assumptions based on the experience of the particular group. For smaller creditor groups, the experience of similar creditor groups may be useful in setting assumptions.

When there is no reliable experience on which to base assumptions, the actuary could review the contract provisions and characteristics of members to determine whether individual or group industry tables form a reasonable basis for expected assumptions. Creditor insurance often has characteristics of both individual and group insurance and, therefore, a combination of individual and group industry experience may be appropriate. Depending on the evidence of insurability requirement, select and ultimate assumptions may be appropriate.

Since creditor benefits are typically tied to the amount of the loan outstanding, a number of additional assumptions are required to project the liability cash flows, such as the interest rate on the loans, partial prepayments, and payment in full (lapses). These assumptions would be determined in a reasonable manner consistent with the valuation interest rate scenario, where material.

If there is a partial refund of premium under single premium creditor coverage when a loan is repaid or moved to another institution, this benefit, if material, would affect the projected liability cash flows.

Typically, experience is limited on creditor plans and high margin, onside ations often apply.

7.5 Liability for Future Experience Rating Refunds (ERRs)

The ERR liability makes provision for future ERRs on greeps with recand accounting, taking into consideration the financial agreement with policyholders.

The term of the ERR liability is the same as that of the corresponding future claim liability since the impact of future claims, expenses and premiums on the liability will have a mirror effect on the other. ERR liability cash flows include all payments anti-pate with respect to insured events incurred prior to the end of the term of the liability, whether those proceeds are anticipated to be made before or after the term of the liability. If the policyholder has the right to terminate the financial agreement without terminating the contract, potential anti-spection by the policyholder may affect the liability.

Appendix 2 contains several examples of ituations that a hypothetical insurer may face and demonstrates approaches for detailing the LRR liability that are consistent with the principles in this note.

7.5.1 Policyholder Versus St. tement Liabilities

There may be different es between the statement liability basis and the policyholder liability basis used to calculate policy urplus/deficit, as defined in the financial agreement. For employee groups, only differences in incurred claims liabilities are normally considered in this context since policyholder reporting typically does not reflect future claims. For creditor or association groups, future claims liabilities may be considered in policyholder refund accounting. Many of the differences between policyholder and statement liabilities arise naturally because these two bases satisfy different functions.

The statement liability basis is the reporting basis for the insurer and is subject to accepted actuarial practice and OSFI guidelines, and is typically the GAAP liability basis. The GAAP liability is equal to the statement value of the assets required to support the obligations of the insurer's group life and health business as determined under the CALM.

The policyholder liability basis is established by the insurer to meet pricing requirements and does not necessarily follow GAAP standards. It may reflect policyholder specific risk characteristics, financial arrangements and experience. The policyholder liability basis may strive to attain equity between generations of policyholders, and may reflect the company's view of the risk it bears on behalf of the policyholders. An example of this would be using an "investment year" approach to policyholder valuation interest rates versus an average interest rate based on the CALM for statement reporting.

The most common situation is for policyholder liabilities to be at least as large as statement liabilities. This is done to reduce the insurer's downside risk from the refund accounting process. One way this could be accomplished is by using larger margins for adverse deviation for policyholder liabilities than for statement liabilities to reflect, at least partially, the additional uncertainty in the expected assumptions at the policyholder level.

Since the statement liability and policyholder liability are based on different methods and assumptions, the difference between the two liabilities can change over time.

7.5.2 Claims Fluctuation Reserves (CFRs)

to be held back in a CFR Most refund accounting arrangements require some or all of a policy until the CFR reaches a defined level, and ERR payments are adjusted a rdingly. The CFR represents deposits that the policyholder is required to maintain with the rer to sover adverse claim fluctuations, and which the insurer can draw on at the termination of the linar ial agreement if there is a deficit, or on other occasions as the contract permits. The required funding level is normally based on the size of the policy, the coverages insured, and other aspects of Le risk file. The CFR is credited with interest and the CFR would never be negative. The fund is no usually owing to the policyholder until the group policy terminates or fails to be renewed. The fund is increased (reduced) by any new experience surplus (deficit) The amount of CFR that is deductible for tax purposes, at the final accounting. There are limitations which are described in Section 12.

The CFR may be included in the a tuarial liabilities or treated as part of amounts on deposit. The valuation considerations are aim r to take for amounts on deposit, with appropriate recognition of any interest rate risk (see section).

7.5.3 Consideration in Developing the ERR Liability

The starting point for the LRR liability is the estimated value of accrued experience surplus on the valuation date.

Accrued Experience Surplus

The financial agreement with the policyholder outlines the policyholder valuation basis (methods and assumptions) and other refund accounting assumptions (including interest crediting arrangements) for determining the amount of surplus or deficit. The definition of experience surplus in the glossary describes how it is calculated. The financial agreement will also outline the treatment of emerging surplus, which includes:

- the extent to which any surplus is shared between the policyholder and insurer,
- allowable cross-rating among coverages, where surpluses on coverages are first applied against deficits on other coverages,
- requirements to hold a CFR before any refunds to the policyholder are made, and
- the accrued experience surplus is then the remaining amount available for refund to the policyholder.

The experience surplus for a policy is normally determined at the policy renewal date, so when that date does not coincide with the valuation date, an estimate is made of the experience surplus for the expired portion of the policy year. This might be done by updating the experience surplus to the valuation date, based on policy activity (e.g., premiums, claims) and the financial agreement with the policyholder (including interest credits on policyholder liabilities and accrued surplus).

If the accrued experience surplus has been reduced by an amount that is expected to be added to the CFR, this anticipated addition to the CFR would be included in the liabilities (either as an additional ERR liability or as an adjustment to the CFR).

Adjustments to the Accrued Experience Surplus

Theoretically, the ERR liability takes into consideration all anticipated ERR payments to the end of the term of the liability, plus ERR payments after the term of the liability resulting from claims incurred prior to the end of the term of the liability. In practice, the ERR liability is often approximated by the retrospectively determined accrued experience surplus with adjustments as appropriate to reflect the financial agreement with the policyholaer. A number of considerations apply in determining the appropriate adjustments, including:

- the impact of projecting experience to the end of the term of the Expliability,
- the difference between policyholder and statement libih is.
- the impact on future ERR payments of any post-termination accounting in the financial agreement,
- whether the policyholder has the option to de pand p whent of the accrued experience surplus at any time,
- whether the policyholder has the option to continue the financial agreement without terminating the insurance contract,
- whether the policyholder has the option to move the incurred claims liability to another insurer on termination of the contract, and
- any additional risks created by the mancial agreement with the policyholder (such as interest crediting risk described by action 7.5.4).

Some of the above constration involve potential anti-selection by the policyholder associated with options in the financial agreement (e.g., the right to move the incurred claims liability to another insurer at termination of the contract). To the extent material, this potential anti-selection would affect the ERR liability and may also affect the overall interest rate risk.

For groups that have terminated, it is appropriate to make provision for future ERR payments anticipated under the final accounting terms in the financial agreement.

When the policyholder liability is greater than the statement liability for incurred claims, the difference may generate expected ERR payments that occur after the term of the liability and a corresponding adjustment to the ERR liability. Typically, approximate methods are used to project these future ERR payments due to the materiality of the liability and the complexity of doing an accurate calculation. Conceptually, the projected ERR payments would reflect the run-off of the difference between the two liability bases and the probability that an ERR payment would result from each reversal. This probability would depend on lapse rates for similar groups and whether the group is expected to be in a surplus or deficit position. In practice, the projection may be done in aggregate for all groups or different assumptions may be used by group or for different segments of the block of business.

To the extent the difference between policyholder and statement liabilities is due to using an average assumption for statement reporting and an assumption reflecting certain characteristics of the group for policyholder reporting, the future run-off of the difference would not typically create a future ERR payment. For example, policyholder IBNR factors could vary by elimination period on LTD while an average factor is used for statement reporting. This difference alone would not typically result in an adjustment to the ERR liability.

If the statement liability for the incurred claims is greater than the policyholder liability, it is usually not appropriate to make a corresponding adjustment to the ERR liability, except to the extent that the run-off of the difference is recoverable from a CFR.

For most groups, future claim liabilities are not considered in the refund accounting process and so differences in the future claim liability can be ignored in determining the ERR liability. However, for some groups with significant future claim liabilities, the future claim liabilities may be an element of the financial agreement. A typical example is single premium creditor plans with refund accounting. For these groups, the impact on future ERRs of the differences between the policyholder and statement future claims bilities would be reflected in a similar manner to that described above for differences in the incurred claims liabilities.

A negative ERR liability is appropriate only to the extent that the insurer is buding another liability for the group and has a contractual right to reduce that liability to of set the deficit. This would include CFRs, or amounts on deposit for which the policyholder has signed as agreement to give the insurer access to such deposits to recover deficits and the policyholder has a limited right to wandraw the amount.

7.5.4 Interest Crediting for Refund Accounting Group

In some financial agreements for refund accouning groups, the interest credited on the policyholder basis liability is associated with an external interest rate that differs from the valuation interest rate appropriate to the policyholder basis liability itself. For example, interest may be credited as a function of a five-year bond rate whereas the typical duration of an LTD claim liability is longer than the duration of a five-year bond. This difference in interest rates would affect ERR payments in the future whenever the interest credited on the policyholder basis liability is different from the interest component of the change in the the ch

If the current rate of corest codited on liabilities in the policyholder refund accounting exceeds the valuation interest rate used of policyholder liabilities, an additional ERR liability may be required. For example, if the interest coditing basis for refund accounting is a one-year GIC rate which changes every policy year, assets are invested to match the benefit cash flows, and interest rates have risen in the last few years, the policyholder interest crediting could be at a higher rate than the valuation interest rate. The ERR liability projected to the end of the term of the liability would directly take this cost into account.

Situations exist where there is a guarantee of interest crediting rates that extends beyond the term of the liability, for example, a policy that is renewed annually but which has interest crediting rates guaranteed in five-year rollover cells. In this case, if the guaranteed interest rates for the next five-years exceed the valuation interest rate used for policyholder liabilities, provision for the cost of the interest guarantee would be made in the ERR liability.

In addition, when the interest crediting rates change in a different manner than changes in the interest rates earned on the assets, this creates an interest rate risk after the term of the liability related to claims included in the valuation (i.e., claims incurred before the end of the term of the liability). If material, provision for this risk would be incorporated directly as part of the interest rate scenario testing of the CALM, or approximated in a reasonable manner.

In the situation where the risk has been mitigated by crediting an interest rate on the claims liability that moves in tandem with the interest rate earned on the assets backing those liabilities, this element of the interest rate risk may be immaterial. Similarly, if the valuation interest rate used for policyholder liabilities and the interest crediting rate are varied by date of incurral, and policyholder liabilities match GAAP liabilities in total then this aspect of interest rate risk would likely be immaterial.

7.6 Liability for Amounts on Deposit

Amounts on deposit typically represent policyholder surplus owing but not paid, including interest to the valuation date. The insurer usually does not have contractual access to these funds to cover claim fluctuations.

If the account is credited with market short-term interest rates and backed with short-term assets of a higher yield and similar duration, interest rate scenario testing is not generally necessary and the account balance is usually the appropriate value of the liability. Otherwise, or where interest rate guarantees exist, the cash flows associated with amounts on deposit would be incorporated in the interest rate scenario testing to determine the appropriate provision for interest ate h.k. If the policyholder can withdraw these deposits without market value adjustment, this option would be considered in determining the overall level of interest rate risk.

7.7 Expense Considerations

Section 7.2.6 of the draft life standards contains general considerations for the development of expense assumptions.

Claims expenses include the cost of administering and aving claims and are projected to the end of the benefit period. This includes the cost of ongoing redical practitioner and rehabilitation costs, and associated overhead charges.

General administrative expenses include the cost of underwriting, administration, sales compensation and overhead, and are projected to the end of the term of the liability.

Inflation consistent with the intrest rate scenario would generally be applied to per policy type expenses in the future cash flows.

For some groups, TPAs part on some administrative services. In such cases, the services performed by the insurer may vary over time, and this can have an effect on the unit costs. Unit expenses are sometimes determined by the of administration (insurer administered, self-administered or TPA) and sometimes averaged over all policyholders.

There may be discrepancies between the actual expenses incurred by the insurer and those reflected explicitly in the retention charges (the expense charges to the customer). Retention charges are normally subject to marketing and competitive considerations and, therefore, the valuation assumptions are developed separately from the retention charges.

Claims administration expenses expressed as a percentage of the benefit amount may vary by duration and this could be recognized in the liability cash flows for disabled lives. Generally, the expenses related to new disability claims are much higher than for claimants who have been disabled for a number of years. It is also important to ensure that the valuation unit expenses reflect actual expected expenses because the basis used may not be related to the actual expense drivers. For example, if the claims administration expense assumption were expressed as a percentage of the benefit amount net of benefit offsets, then a change in the level of benefit offsets would affect the amount of claim expenses in the valuation.

8. DEFICIT RECOVERY

At any point in time, a policy with refund accounting may have an accrued deficit. The accrued deficit is defined as the negative policyholder experience balance net of any funds the insurer has a contractual right to offset. All or a portion of the accrued deficit may be recoverable. The future claims liability and the ERR liability include all amounts available within the term of the liability for recovery of deficits. According to GAAP, the portion of the deficit recoverable from margins in premiums beyond the term of the liability should be shown as an asset on the balance sheet, not as a reduction to the policy liabilities.

Although as an asset, the recoverable deficit is not part of the policy liabilities, the actuary is accountable for testing the recoverability of the asset from future margins. The criteria for recognition of recoverable deficits should be discussed and reviewed with the accountant.

Specific considerations in determining the amount of deficit deemed recoverable are:

- the insurer may have a contractual right to recover deficits, annually con plan termination. Even with this right, the creditworthiness of the policyholder comes to play, unless there is a letter of credit or other guarantee upon which to draw,
- there may be agreements to allow explicit deficit recovery marges in federe premiums. Even without explicit deficit recovery charges, there may be excess promited margens available to recover some or all of the deficit. Testing the adequacy of the premium would done to ensure that these margins would be available to recover deficits.
- anticipated policy persistency of groups in a deficit position,
- to assume deficit recoveries from anticipated for relate increases or lump sum payments requires clear and demonstrated intent by the policy order to accept such charges. The strength of relationship with the policyholder could be a conjuderation.
- past experience regarding amounts initially established as recoverable and subsequent actual recoveries. However, the cortex rate production of deficits to a few cases may mean that past experience is an unreliable indicator of fewer apperience,
- the size of the deficit relative. the premium base and the likely recovery period required,
- the anticipated release of existons for adverse deviation is not an appropriate source for deficit recoveries under GAAP
- if the accrued deficit on the policyholder basis is smaller than the loss realized to date on the statement basis, the recoverable deficit would generally be limited to the deficit on the policyholder basis.
- care should be taken to ensure that there is no double counting of future premium margins, for example, margins used to recover deferred acquisition cost (DAC) assets, and
- reinsurance recoveries may affect the net recoverable deficit.

Appendix 2 provides some examples of how an asset for deficit recovery might be determined in various situations. In these examples, the recoverable deficit is expressed as a percentage of the experience deficit. A potential weakness of this approach is that it does not directly take into consideration the size of the deficit relative to the premium base and the likely recovery period required. A more direct approach is to establish a recoverable portion expressed as a percentage of the annual premium on the case. This method places a more realistic limit on the recoverable amount, particularly in cases with large deficits.

9. ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES ONLY (ASO)

According to the draft life standards, the term of the liability for an ASO contract would generally be zero and, hence, the liability would be zero. However, if expense charges have been guaranteed by the insurer, the actuary should test the liability with the term extended for the duration of the guarantee, and if higher liability value results, then the term of the liability should be so extended. That is, to the extent that the guaranteed expense charges are insufficient to provide for expected future expenses plus a MAD, a liability would be established for future expense shortfalls.

If ASO business is written with stop loss insurance or other arrangement where there is a transfer of risk to the insurer, there could be a non-zero policy liability to the extent that the expected cost of benefits plus provision for adverse deviations exceeds the guaranteed premiums for the coverage.

Even in cases where the liability is greater than zero, there is usually minimal interest rate risk involved in ASO contracts and if so, the cash flows can safely be ignored in the interest rate scenario testing of the CALM.

10. STOP LOSS

Stop loss coverage is generally written to limit the policyholder's posture to losses on an underlying policy administered by the insurer, policyholder or third party. The terms of the coverage may include provisions for future experience rating refunds and deficit recoveries.

A future claim liability would reflect the extent to which the pected cost of stop loss claims incurred during the term of the liability (including claim prome to that may occur after the term of the liability) plus provision for adverse deviations exceeds the propert value of guaranteed premiums for the stop loss coverage. An IBNR liability might also be reported to provide for claims associated with premiums already received.

There is usually minimal interest rate lisk involved in stop loss contracts and so the cash flows can be safely ignored in the interest rate cellurio esting of the CALM.

11. DEFERRED ACQUISITY A COSTS (DAC)

Deferral of acquisition expenses is asscribed in section 4.9 of the draft life standards. GAAP allows for DAC to recognize that cert is expenditures already incurred may be recoverable from future revenue. In the case of long-term insurance policies, all future revenue is already reflected in the policy liabilities, so a separate DAC asset would not be appropriate. However, where the term of the future claim liability is short, as is typically the case for group insurance, there may be expected future revenue that is not reflected in the policy liabilities and, hence, a DAC asset may be appropriate. Whether to establish a DAC asset and how much to set up requires some thought and discussion with the accountant.

The starting point for determining the DAC asset is the acquisition expense incurred. The DAC is amortized as available revenue is received. According to the draft life standards, the actuary should explicitly test the recoverability of the DAC asset. Though GAAP does not narrowly limit the type of revenue that can be used for this purpose, the actuary's judgement about recoverability takes place in the context of the valuation. For example, the anticipated release of provisions for adverse deviation is not an appropriate source of recovery.

Generally, there should be some connection between the source of recovery and the original expenditure, for example, only future revenue with respect to the same group case is normally considered available for recovery of a group policy DAC. In circumstances where it is appropriate to set up a DAC asset, some considerations are:

- the extent to which DAC recovery is already reflected in the future claim liability. The longer the term of the future claim liability, the less remaining margins there will be to recover any DAC;
- profit margins available in future premiums (after provisions for adverse deviations). Care should be taken to ensure that there is no double counting of future premium margins, for example, margins used to recover deficits;
- anticipated policy persistency;
- a simple, cautious approach is normally sufficient.

12. TAX CONSIDERATIONS

Section 7.2.8 of the draft life standards describes the treatment of income taxes in the valuation. When projecting asset and liability cash flows, the actuary makes explicit assumations as to future taxes in those situations where permanent future differences or existing and future temporary differences between statement and tax values exist. The combination of the accounting atture tax liabilities and/or assets with the policy liabilities appropriately provides for future tax s.

For LTD and other health liabilities, where Canadian tax liabilities are generally 95% of statement liabilities, substantial future tax losses may be expected to arise as the difference between tax and statement liabilities runs off. According to the drawlife some ards, the actuary should use future tax losses to reduce the liability only to the extent the benefits of those tax losses are recoverable (on the valuation basis) from within the insurer based on the projected tax position of the company overall. To the extent there is uncertainty about the ability to realize the benefit of future tax losses, a margin for adverse deviations would be appropriate

In addition, in Canada, tax regulations hay give rise to differences between tax and statement values, for example:

- The taxation of certain asset of uses differs from statement accounting. Examples include the current mark-to-market taxation of equities, and the tax versus statement accounting for bond and mortgage gains realized prior to 99.
- The liabilities for paid-to life insurance and creditor insurance issued prior to 1996 have a defined tax liability basis which is typically different than the statement basis.
- The liabilities for survivor income benefit or waiver of premium claims incurred prior to 1996 have a defined tax liability basis.
- The liabilities for individual life insurance policies issued prior to 1996 pursuant to an association policy have a defined tax liability basis.
- Canada Customs and Revenue Agency imposes limitations on the amount that can be deducted for a CFR. In general, the deductible amount for a CFR is limited to 25% of the annual premium under the policy.

In addition, differences between tax and statement liabilities may arise on acquisitions, and permanent future differences or existing and future temporary differences between Canadian GAAP and foreign tax values may exist in respect of assets and liabilities arising from business issued out of Canada.

13. REINSURANCE CEDED

Reinsurance is common in group life and health business. While many reinsurance transactions are highly specialized, most include some elements of coinsurance, modified coinsurance, share ceded insurance and excess of risk reinsurance.

Under coinsurance arrangements, the insurer cedes a portion of the business to one or more reinsurers. Each reinsurer holds the policy liabilities on its portion of the business. The primary insurer is liable for the payment of contractual benefits to the policyholder. Under modified coinsurance, the insurer cedes a portion of the business to other insurers, but retains the policy liabilities and related assets on its own books.

Under share ceded business, several insurers separately underwrite the business and each insurer establishes the liability separately for the business it underwrites.

Under excess of risk reinsurance, the coverage of amounts above the insurer's retention limit is ceded to a reinsurer who holds the policy liabilities related to the coverage.

Sections 6.4.5 and 7.2.11 of the draft life standards provide guidance on the teatment of reinsurance in the valuation.

Recoveries from a reinsurer depend upon the continuing solve or of the reinsurer. Section 6.4.5 of the draft life standards describes considerations in assessing the recordoleness of taking full credit for reinsurance recoveries.

Under coinsurance arrangements, the insurer does not mank in assets backing the excess of gross liabilities over net liabilities. The draft life standards recognize that in this situation, the CALM cannot be strictly applied. Any method may be used to add the gross liability that produces results that are reasonable in relation to net liabilities. For example, a series of interest rates derived to reproduce the net liability by the Policy Premium Method (PPM) may be used to produce the gross liability by the PPM.

14. INTERNATIONAL ISSUES

Group policyholders may ope te in a real territories, and coverage may be issued in Canada to employees of group policyholders who reside in another territory. Multinational pooling of risk (i.e., pooling of risk on lives assort in different territories) may exist. The draft life standards provide guidance in respect of many international issues, for example, section 6.3 discusses foreign interest rates, and section 7.3 discusses some issues in projecting foreign asset cash flows.

Permanent future differences or existing and future temporary differences between Canadian GAAP and foreign tax values may exist in respect of assets and liabilities arising from business issued out of Canada (see section 12).

Other considerations include:

- the limited volume of experience on out-of-Canada residents,
- the social/political risks that may exist outside of North America,
- the differing legal and tax environment in the insured's country of residence,
- for medical coverage, the availability of local government sponsored medical insurance programs.

15. ACQUISITION OF A BLOCK OF BUSINESS

An insurer may acquire another insurer's block of business with material policy liabilities. The acquired block of business may have very different characteristics (e.g., employee demographics, contractual guarantees, tax values, distribution channel, investment policy, underwriting approach, expense structure) from the insurer's current business. Consequently, the valuation assumptions and methods the insurer uses to value its current business may not be appropriate in valuing the acquired business.

The terms of the acquisition agreement, prior statutory and tax filings, actuarial studies, financial agreements, policy contracts, investment reports and the insurer's plan for the acquired business provide appropriate context in developing valuation assumptions and methods.

The previous insurer's valuation methods and assumptions form a reasonable starting point for the valuation basis. However, the change in control may affect future expectations, for example:

- Under the terms of some acquisition agreements, policy benefits may change.
- The acquiring insurer may expect to realize long-term unit expluse reductions if systems, administration and staff supporting the acquired business are a tegrated with their own. Guidance for reflecting expected trends in the valuation is provided in the staff like standards.
- The change in control may affect the retention of clints. This will also influence the recoverability of deficits and DAC.
- Generally, the change in control will affect tax values.
- Changes occurring as systems and procedure, are integrated may affect claims experience. For example, the lag in approving claims in v change as various systems and administration procedures are integrated. As another example, LTD and waiver of premium termination rates may change if the insurer adopts different administration and adjudication procedures, or the acquired block shrinks and the rax of business changes.
- Changes in investment policy and as et and liability matching procedures may affect the expected investment returns a direction margins.

It may be appropriate to start with the acquiring insurer's methods and assumptions with adjustment as appropriate for difference in the backs of business. Some considerations are:

- The mix of groups is the two blocks by industry or other characteristics may affect experience.
- The acquired busines may have been underwritten on a different basis from the insurer's own business. For example, the impact on the ERR liability of the difference between policyholder and statement liabilities may change.
- The acquired business may have been sold through a distribution channel the insurer is not familiar with. The different characteristics of the distribution channel could affect the expected experience assumptions.

As systems and administration procedures change, the valuation data may become incomplete or inaccurate. The actuary is encouraged to implement special audit procedures to monitor valuation data during the acquisition and for as long as administration procedures and systems are being integrated.

APPENDIX 1 – GLOSSARY OF TERMS

ASO

• Administrative services only – refers to an arrangement whereby the policyholder is liable for claim costs and for agreed charges

Catastrophic Pooling

see Stop Loss section below

Claims Fluctuation Reserve or Fund, Claims Stabilization Reserve or Fund, Premium Stabilization Reserve or Fund:

• this note uses the terminology "Claims Fluctuation Reserve (CFR)." CFRs are described in section 7.5.2

Credibility

• a measure of the validity of the past experience of the group as a predictor of future experience. It is related to the size of the group and frequency of claims

Disabled Life Reserve (DLR)

another name for the LTD reported claims liability

Elimination Period

- also referred to as waiting period or qualifying period
- in this note it is defined as the period of time between the date of disability and when the first payment is due or when the waiver of prent value becomes effective

Experience Rating Refunds or Divid ands

- this note uses the terminology "experience rated refunds (ERRs)"
- ERRs are payments of surplus b a poncyholders with refund accounting, where the surplus is determined according to the in acra agreement between the insurer and the policyholder

Experience Rated

- is used to describe polices where the experience of the group is used to determine premiums or refunds
- this note uses the terminology "Prospectively Rated" to describe groups that are experience rated in the premium setting process but are not eligible for refunds
- this note uses the terminology "Refund Accounting" for groups that are eligible to receive ERRs based on their experience determined retrospectively

Experience Surplus (Deficit if negative)

- refers to the excess of:
 - premiums, plus interest on policyholder liability balances and cash flow, over
 - claims paid, plus expense and other charges, plus the increase in policyholder liability (for incurred claims and sometimes future claims)
- all items would be determined according to the refund accounting rules in the financial agreement.
 For example, if there is pooling, the claims paid and policyholder liability would exclude the pooled amounts and pool charges would be included in the "other charges"

Financial Agreement, Refund Accounting Agreement, Underwriting Agreement, ERR Agreement

• document specifying the financial terms of the refund accounting arrangement between the insurer and the policyholder. The agreement may also specify practices to be used for renewal rate determination. This is typically a supplementary agreement to the insurance contract but may be included in the insurance contract. The term "Financial Agreement" is used in this educational note

Hold Harmless or No Risk

many insurers use these terms interchangeably but in this note hold harmless is used to describe an
agreement whereby the policyholder "holds" specific liabilities (generally IBNR), and no risk is used
to describe an agreement for the repayment of any future deficits

Incurred Claims Liability

- sum of the reported claims liability and the incurred but not reported claims liability
- represents the liability for all claims incurred prior to the valuation date

Incurred Loss Ratio

- the loss ratio is a ratio of claims incurred (claims paid plus increase in the incurred claims liability) adjusted for interest when the liabilities are interest bearing (e.g. LTR waiver of premium) divided by the earned premiums (paid premiums minus increase in the incurred premium)
- the definition may vary among companies but this represents an exproach that is often used

Medical, Extended Health, and Supplementary Halth

• various names used to describe medical insurance coverages

Minimum Premium

- also known as split funded ASO and stop loss ** xperience rated
- claims are reimbursed on an ASO basis up to a certain limit, and claims in excess of the limit are experience rated

Non-Refund Accounting

fully insured or prosperively rand business

Self-Administered Plans

• groups where the policyholder maintains records and submits the premium based on its own census data

Spousal Income Benefits

• another name for survivor income benefits

Stop Loss Pooling, Catastrophic Pooling, High Amount Pooling

- terminology used to describe various types of pooling available to reduce the policyholder's risk on an insured contract with refund accounting or an ASO contract (discussed in section 5 and section 10)
- aggregate stop loss pools the aggregate amount of claims for the group whereas individual stop loss pools the amount of each claim that is in excess of a specified amount

TPA - Third Party Administrator

- another party who administers the contract provisions and perhaps pays benefits
- insurer has additional risk of data integrity issues and timeliness of receiving information

Tax Reserves

• tax values of liabilities as defined by Income Tax Act (Canada) and Québec Taxation Act

Unearned Premium

• premiums paid prior to the valuation date in respect of a period after the valuation date

Waiting Period

- may also be referred to as qualifying period
- in this note it is defined as the period of time before a plan member is covered by group life and health benefits



• another name for short-term disability



APPENDIX 2 – EXAMPLES

NB: in all examples below, the statement liability for the insurer is equal to the GAAP liability.

Experience Rated Refund Accounting

Example 1a) Canadian GAAP liability less than policyholder liability with an accrued surplus

Information

The following information applies to a fully experience rated medium sized group. For ease of presentation, the group is an LTD-only case, with no special arrangements or guarantees.

	December 31, 1999
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Policyholder Liability Basis	600,000
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Canadian GAAP basis	500,000
Claims Fluctuation Reserve (CFR)	400,000
Accrued Surplus at December 31, 1999	100,000

Resulting Canadian GAAP Balance Sheet

Using the information above, the following balance she tentrils would result:

	_	
Balance Sheet	Item	December 31, 1999
Liability	Claims Fluctuation Reserve (Se. N. e 1)	400,000
Liability	LTD Incurred Claims Liability (See Note 2)	500,000
Liability	Experience Rating Fefund (See Notes 3, 4, 5)	175,000
NET	NET BALANCE, HELL LABILITY	1,075,000

- 1. The CFR is recorded as light at December 31, 1999.
- 2. The LTD incurred claims fability is the GAAP liability for reported claims plus the IBNR liability.
- 3. The surplus at December 37, 1999 of \$100,000 generates a component of the ERR liability.
- 4. The ERR liability would be adjusted for the impact of the \$100,000 difference between the policyholder and GAAP liabilities for incurred claims. The insurer expects to pay disabled lives a total of \$500,000, including a provision for adverse deviation. The remaining \$100,000 of the \$600,000 policyholder liability is expected to emerge as future surplus, a portion of which will be returned to the policyholder in future ERRs. Based on aggregate testing of groups in a surplus position, the present value of future ERRs that is expected to emerge is 75% (including margins) of the difference between policyholder and GAAP liabilities. Therefore, the ERR liability is increased by \$75,000, for a total of \$175,000.
- 5. The portion of the liability difference that is estimated to emerge as ERRs depends on the reason for the difference (see section 7.5.3). For example, if the difference was largely related to using policyholder-specific termination rates for policyholder reporting and average termination rates for GAAP reporting, then the appropriate ERR liability adjustment would be much smaller. Similar considerations apply to the remaining examples of this section.

Example 1b) Canadian GAAP liability less than policyholder liability with an accrued deficit exceeding the total of the CFR and the excess of policyholder liabilities over GAAP

Information

This is the same as example 1a, except that the group is currently in a deficit position rather than surplus.

	December 31, 1999
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Policyholder Liability Basis	600,000
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Canadian GAAP basis	500,000
Claims Fluctuation Reserve (CFR)	400,000
Accrued Deficit at December 31, 1999	(584,000)
Estimated deficit recovery for unsecured amounts (see Note 3)	50%

Resulting Canadian GAAP Balance Sheet

Using the information above, the following balance sheet entries would result:

Balance Sheet	Item	Dec. nber 31, 1999
Liability	Claims Fluctuation Reserve	400,000
Liability	LTD Incurred Claims Liability	500,000
Liability	Experience Rating Refund (See Notes 1, 2)	(400,000)
Asset	Recoverable Deficits (See Notes 3,	33,600
NET	NET BALANCE SHEET LIAD LY Y (new of assets)	466,400

- 1. A negative ERR liability is established the event that the deficit can be recovered from the CFR. Since the insurer has full recourse to the CFR, in initial ERR liability of \$(400,000) is established.
- 2. The ERR liability is adjusted for the impact of the \$100,000 difference between the policyholder and GAAP liabilities for incurred or ims. The run-off of the difference is expected to emerge as future surplus, and will be available to recover a point of the accrued deficit. Based on aggregate testing of all groups in a similar deficit position (i.e., curred year deficit exceeds the total of CFR plus excess of policyholder over GAAP liabilities), it is estimated that the run-off of the difference in liabilities will not generate future refunds, but rather will reduce the accrued deficit. Therefore, no adjustment to the ERR liability is required, and the total ERR liability is \$(400,000).
- 3. In this example, \$400,000 of the accrued deficit is expected to be recovered by the CFR (Note 1) and \$100,000 is expected to be recovered by the run-off of the difference between policyholder and GAAP liabilities (Note 2). A portion of the remaining \$84,000 "unsecured" deficit may be recoverable from future pricing margins on the group, and set up as an asset on the balance sheet.
 - Based on experience for groups in a similar situation and expected future premium margins, the actuary has estimated that 50% of the outstanding, unsecured deficit is recoverable. This is reduced by 20% to provide a margin for adverse deviations. Therefore, an asset of \$33,600, equal to 40% of the outstanding unsecured deficit, is set up on the balance sheet.
- 4. The size of the margin would depend on the circumstances of the case and could be higher or lower than the 20% shown in this example. One key factor in establishing this margin is the reliability and applicability of the historical information used to determine the likelihood of deficit recovery. Past experience may not be a reliable indicator of future experience.

	Secured by CFR	Secured by Differences in P/H & GAAP Liabilities	Unsecured Deficit	Total
(1) Outstanding Deficit	400,000	100,000	84,000	584,000
(2) Likelihood of recovery	100%	100%	50%	
(3) Expected Recoverable Deficit = (1) x (2)	400,000	100,000	42,000	442,000
(4) Margin for adverse deviation (see Note 4)	0%	0%	20%	
(5) Provision for adverse deviation = (3) x (4)			8,400	8,400
(6) Difference between P/H and GAAP liabilities		100,000		
(7) Funded portion of P/H versus GAAP liabilities				
(8) ERR Liability	(400,000)			(400,000)
(9) Recoverable Deficit Asset = (3) – (5)			33,600	33,600
	CX			

Example 1c) Canadian GAAP liability less than policyholder liability with an accrued deficit less than the total of the CFR and the excess of policyholder liabilities over GAAP

Information

This is the same as example 1b, except that the current year deficit is smaller.

	December 31, 1999
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Policyholder Liability Basis	600,000
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Canadian GAAP basis	500,000
Claims Fluctuation Reserve (CFR)	400,000
Accrued Deficit at December 31, 1999	(460,000)

Resulting Canadian GAAP Balance Sheet

Using the information above, the following balance sheet entries yould e result:

Balance Sheet	Item 1	V ecember 31, 1999
Liability	Claims Fluctuation Reserve	400,000
Liability	LTD Incurred Claims Liability	500,000
Liability	Experience Rating Refund (See Notes 1,2)	(376,000)
NET	NET BALANCE SHEET LIX YILITY	524,000

- 1. A negative ERR liability is stablished the extent that the deficit can be recovered from the CFR. Since the insurer has full recourse the CFR, an initial ERR liability of \$(400,000) is established.
- 2. The ERR liability is a firsted to the impact of the \$100,000 difference between the policyholder and GAAP liabilities for incurr a claims. The run-off of the difference is expected to emerge as future surplus, part of which we be available to recover the portion of the deficit not secured by the CFR (i.e., \$60,000). The remaining \$40,000 of the excess of policyholder liabilities over GAAP has effectively been funded by the policyholder and a percentage of this will flow back to the policyholder in future ERRs. Based on testing of groups in a similar situation, the present value of future ERRs that is estimated to emerge is 60% (including margins) of the remaining difference. As the difference runs off, it will first be used to reduce the deficit and therefore the refunds that result will be farther in the future and the probability that they will be paid is lower than for groups currently in a surplus position (see example 1a). Therefore, the adjustment to the ERR liability is \$24,000, for a total of \$(376,000).

	Secured by CFR	Secured by Differences in P/H & GAAP Liabilities	Unsecured Deficit	Total
(1) Outstanding Deficit	400,000	60,000 *	0	460,000
(2) Likelihood of recovery	100%	100%		
(3) Expected Recoverable Deficit = (1) x (2)	400,000	60,000		460,000
(4) Difference between P/H and GAAP liabilities		100,000		
(5) Funded portion of P/H versus GAAP liabilities		40,000		
(6) PV future refunds as % of excess liability difference		60%	V	
(7) ERR Liability	(400,000)	2,00		(376,000)
(8) Recoverable Deficit Asset			0	0

Example 2a) Canadian GAAP liability greater than policyholder liability with an accrued surplus Information

This example is similar to 1a except the policyholder liability is smaller than the GAAP liability.

	December 31, 1999
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Policyholder Liability Basis	500,000
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Canadian GAAP basis	600,000
Claims Fluctuation Reserve (CFR)	400,000
Accrued Surplus at December 31, 1999	100,000

Resulting Canadian GAAP Balance Sheet

Using the information above, the following balance sheet entries would result

Balance Sheet	Item	Dec. nº er 31, 1999
Liability	Claims Fluctuation Reserve	400,000
Liability	LTD Incurred Claims Liability	600,000
Liability	ERR Liability (See Notes 1, 2)	40,000
		,
NET	NET BALANCE SHEET LIABIL TY	1,040,000

- 1. An ERR liability would be established on the balance sheet to recognize the amount of surplus owing to the policyholder. This results it an interest liability of \$100,000.
- 2. The ERR liability is adjusted for impact of the \$100,000 difference between the GAAP and policyholder liabilities for included claims. The run-off of this difference is expected to generate deficits (or smaller refunds) in the polyholder reporting periods. Since the insurer has full recourse to the CFR, it is appropriate to stablish a negative ERR liability for the portion of the run-off that will be recoverable from the CFR Based on aggregate testing of groups in a similar position, the present value of the recoverable amounts is estimated to be 60% (including margins) of the liability difference and therefore reduces the ERR liability by \$60,000.
- 3. The 60% estimate depends on the circumstances of the case (see section 7.5.3). For example, if the financial agreement allows the policyholder to terminate the financial agreement and demand payment of the CFR and accrued surplus at any time, a smaller percentage might be appropriate in recognition of the potential antiselection.

Example 2b) Canadian GAAP liability greater than policyholder liability with an accrued deficit Information

This example is similar to 1b except the policyholder liability is smaller than the GAAP liability.

	December 31, 1999
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Policyholder Liability Basis	500,000
LTD Incurred Claims Liability – Canadian GAAP basis	600,000
Claims Fluctuation Reserve (CFR)	400,000
Accrued Deficit at December 31, 1999	(584,000)
Estimated deficit recovery for unsecured amounts (See Note 3 of example 1b)	50%

Resulting Canadian GAAP Balance Sheet

Using the information above, the following balance sheet entries world research

Balance Sheet	Item	December 31, 1999
Liability	Claims Fluctuation Reserve	400,000
Liability	LTD Incurred Claims Liability	600,000
Liability	ERR Liability (See Notes 1,3)	(400,000)
Asset	Recoverable Deficits See Note	73,600
NET	NET BALANCE SHOET LIA BILITY (net of assets)	526,400

- 1. A negative ERR liability is established to the extent that the deficit can be recovered from the CFR. Since the insurer has full recovered to the CFR, an initial ERR liability of \$(400,000) is established.
- 2. In this example, the po cyholder liability is less than the GAAP liability, and the run-off of the difference is expected to generate future deficits. However, the CFR is not available to recover these future deficits, because the CFR is expected to be fully utilized to recover the accrued deficit. Therefore, no adjustment is made to the ERR liability in respect of the difference between policyholder and GAAP liabilities.
- 3. In this example, \$400,000 of the accrued deficit is expected to be recovered by the CFR (Note 1). A portion of the remaining \$184,000 "unsecured" deficit may be recoverable from future pricing margins on the group, and set up as an asset on the balance sheet.
 - Based on experience for groups in a similar situation and expected future premium margins, the actuary has estimated that 50% of the outstanding, unsecured deficit is recoverable. This is reduced by 20% to provide a margin for adverse deviations (see Note 4 of example 1b). Therefore, an asset of \$73,600, equal to 40% of the outstanding unsecured deficit, is set up on the balance sheet.

	Secured by CFR	Unsecured	Total
(1) Outstanding Deficit	400,000	184,000	584,000
(2) Likelihood of recovery	100%	50%	
(3) Expected Recoverable Deficit = (1) x (2)	400,000	92,000	492,000
(4) Margin for adverse deviation	0%	20%	
(5) Provision for adverse deviation = $(3) \times (4)$	0	18,400	18,400
(6) ERR Liability = $-1 \times (3 - 5)$ for deficits secured by the CFR	(400,000)		(400,000)
(7) Recoverable Deficit Asset = (3) – (5) for unsecured deficits	0	73,600	73,600

Note:

If these examples, it is assumed that the information is available to study groups in a deficit position separately from groups in a surplus position, and different assumpt us have been used to adjust the ERR liability for the run-off of differences between policyholds and CAAP habilities.

In some cases, the same assumptions might be used 1x groups in a deficit position and for groups in a surplus position, based on aggregated information. For example, when policyholder liabilities are greater than GAAP liabilities, the corresponding adjustment to the ERR liability might be 30% of the liability difference on all groups, rather than 75% for groups in a surplus (example 1a) and 0% for groups in a deficit (example 1b,1c). This percentage would vary by contrary depending on the circumstances.

APPENDIX 3 – DATA ISSUES

Data integrity is often an issue in the valuation of group life and health policy liabilities. Some common data issues include:

- LTD claims assessors or adjudicators sometimes suspend claim payments while waiting for medical evidence of continued disability. It is common practice to continue to hold liabilities during this suspension period, however, if it lasts for more than three or four months, the claims assessor may have neglected to terminate the claim.
- For large group policies, most insurers give their underwriters significant leeway in the design of funding arrangements, and often administrative systems do not have the flexibility to record the exact nature of the arrangements.
- Because claims volumes tend to fluctuate considerably, it is important to understand the relationship of the claims in process to the actuarial liabilities.
- LTD or waiver claims may not be added to the administrative symmin a timely fashion, or not removed promptly upon termination.
- Future LTD benefit amounts may be incorrectly interpreted for the impact of offsets or COLA provisions.
- For group creditor cases there are some unique data issues, her example, the outstanding balance on loans insured, varying face amounts of insurance over time etc.
- Documentation of financial agreements may to dentify and care would usually be taken in interpreting agreements in valuing ERR liabilities at Lestablishing assets for deficit recovery.

The following suggestions for validating data integral and issues for the actuary to consider may be useful.

- If there is an LTD claimant and the group has both waiver and LTD coverage, verify that there is a corresponding waiver claim if copre riate (i.e., if the elimination period and definition of disability is the same or if the definition is weaker for the waiver benefit then there would typically be a corresponding waiver claim.
- Compare the death of this register with the waiver/LTD claim files to ensure that there is not a disability claim in paymen one life for which a death claim has been paid. Also, verify that there is not a paid up life liability being held for lives on which a death claim has been paid.
- Meet regularly with the underwriters of large cases to review recent sales and renewal financial agreements made.
- A comparison of claim payments assumed in the liability calculation to claim payments made for the month can identify inconsistencies.
- Routine review of outstanding premiums can identify potential issues where, for conservation purposes, normal practices are not being followed. For example, claims may continue to be paid past the end of the grace period.
- Check that dates are realistic, for example, that the date of birth is prior to the date of disability and the date of birth does not result in the member being too young or too old.
- Check that the date used for recurrent disabilities is the original disability date.
- Check for payment amounts in excess of a specified amount to catch incorrectly coded large amounts that could have a large impact on the liability.

• If LTD payments are temporarily suspended, or the payments are temporarily different from the future expected payments, then the expected future payments would preferably be recognized in the liability calculation rather than a continuation of the current payment.

- Review data integrity checks done by administrative areas, accounting department, internal audit department and/or external auditors.
- For self-administered groups, verify that the data are complete and accurate.
- Audit premium and claim information received from third party administrators.
- Ensure the date of incurral is correct, particularly for the impact on lag studies and stop loss coverages.
- Check that LTD benefit offsets are being coded and handled correctly.
- For creditor insurance it may be difficult to obtain declining loan balances, and so approximations may need to be made.
- Check that the growth in premiums is reasonable relative to the make in valuation records and consistent with the change in IBNR liabilities.
- Movement of business validations compare changes in valuation data to cash flows in the financial statements.
- Analyse trends of changes in various liabilities.
- Periodically review paid up listing for individuals in excess of maximum ages (there should be a limited number beyond age 100).
- Perform analysis of actual to expected ratios to extermine whether results are reasonable (for example, if you have 500 paid up life certificates wer age 75 and no deaths in a six month period, the integrity of the data should be questioned.
- For pending waiver claims, period cally review how long they have remained pending (if too long, they may have been approved or declined by not coded).
- Compare the ERRs reported to the client with estimates prepared over the year to determine if there are any data issues affecting the valuation or administrative issues impacting the refund accounting calculations.

APPENDIX 4 – BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Bluhm, William, "Group Insurance, Second Edition," 1996, Actex Publications

- 2. VTP 7, 12, 13, 14 Discussion Drafts
- 3. Draft Standards of Practice for the Valuation of Policy Liabilities of Life Insurers, April 2000

